LETTER OPI NI ON
93-L-271

Sept enber 16, 1993

M. Vernon W Goodin

Executive Director

Nort h Dakota Council on the Arts
Bl ack Building, Suite 606

118 Br oadway

Fargo, ND 58102

Dear M. Goodi n:

Thank you for your August 2, 1993, letter concerning
the legality of the North Dakota Arts Council
i ncorporating a foundation or simlar organization to
be governed by the 15-nmenber Council.

You advise that the Council wants to establish a
separate entity to pursue certain goals that are
"currently outside of [its] present staffing/funding
possibilities.” You advise that the Council has from
time to tinme needed a separate organization to
adm ni ster special projects such as an arts education
task force, the devel opnent of a presenter's network
for touring arts events, and a fundraising nmechanism
to seek contributions to the North Dakota Cultural
Endownent Fund. Efforts to contract for these projects
with an arts support organization have not been
successful because the organization is an independent
organi zation with its own board of directors, "giving
the Council on the Arts little direct influence on its

day to day operations.” You suggest that a separate
foundati on governed by the Council would give the
Council direct supervision of the special projects.

You envision that operating costs of this separate
entity would be covered by federal or special grant
funds.

Gover nnent al units are creatures of | egi sl ative
action, and as such have only such authority or power
as is granted to them or necessarily inplied fromthe
grant. First Bank of Buffalo v. Conrad, 350 N. W 2d
580, 584-585 (N.D. 1984). While the Council is given
broad duties to foster "the arts in the |life of our




communities [so that the arts] will play an evernore
significant part in the . . . experience of our
citizens," there is no statute which either directly
authorizes or from which the authority is necessarily
inmplied to form and govern a separate entity. North
Dakota Century Code (N.D.C.C.) ? 54-54-01, 54-54-05,
54-54- 06.

Practically, nenmbers of the Council, as individuals,
coul d i ncor porate a non-profit cor poration or
foundation in which some or conceivably all the
Counci | menbers were nenbers  of the board of
directors. This separate entity could then contract
with the Council to <carry out special projects.
N.D.C.C. ? 54-54-06. Nevertheless, such an arrangenent
is fraught with conflicts, and | recomend that the

Counci | nmenbers not pursue this course of action.

Contracts between the Council and a separate entity
woul d be subject to the purview of NND.C.C. ? 12.1-13-
03 which makes it a class A m sdeneanor for a public
servant to be "interested individually"” in a contract
made in an official capacity, alone or in conjunction
with other public servants. Whet her the statute
applies and whet her a per son IS i nterested
individually in a contract are questions of fact.
State v. Robinson, 2 N.W2d 183, 185 (N.D. 1942).

The Council operates on funds from private as well as
public sources and is designated the "official agency
of this state to receive and disburse any funds made
available by the national foundation on the arts.”
N. D. C. C. ?? 54-54-06, 54-54-07. This very fact
creates a real potential for a conflict of interest
which is the chief reason ny predecessor discouraged
t he formation of non-profit cor porations and
foundati ons by governnmental enployees. See Menorandum
to State Agencies and Institutions from Nicholas J.
Spaeth (January 30, 1991), a <copy of which is
encl osed. The seeds of such a conflict are contained
in your letter. You advise that the purpose of
establishing a separate entity to be governed by the

Council is to "acconplish goals that are currently
outside of [the Council's] present staffing/funding
possibilities." A separate entity you state "would

allow [the Council] to hire consultants and pay
operating costs [from federal or speci al gr ant
funds.” | assunme in nmany instances that the sane
federal or special grant funds that would be avail able



to the separate entity would be available to the
Council. [If the Council were eligible to obtain the
same federal or special funds, Council nenbers serving
on the board of directors of the separate entity m ght
well have a conflict in deciding whether the Counci
or the separate entity should seek and qualify for
such funds.

As you suggest in your letter, there is also the
potential for negative reaction by the Legislature
whi ch m ght view creation of a separate entity "as an
intent to increase adm nistrative costs outside of the
| egi sl ative review process.

For the foregoing reasons, | recomend that a separate
foundation or entity not be created by nenbers of the
Counci | .

Si ncerely,

Hei di Heit kanmp
ATTORNEY GENERAL

tam pg
Encl osure



